
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  

FOR THE DISTRICT OF MAYRLAND 

 

JUSTIN MILLS,   : 

     : 

 Plaintiff   : 

     :  CASE NO: 1:15:-cv-00495-RDB 

vs.      : 

     : 

ANNE ARUNDEL COUNTY : 

MARYLAND, et al   : 

 

MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

 NOW COMES Plaintiff, and pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 56, herewith moves for partial 

summary judgment of liability for false imprisonment against Defendants, PPE Casino Resorts, 

LLC, d/b/a Maryland Live! Casino (“Maryland Live!”), and Christopher Coulter (“Coulter”). 

Summary judgment of liability for battery is also sought against Defendants, Maryland Live! and 

Coulter. Summary judgment of liability for violation of 42 U.S.C. 1983 is also sought against all 

Defendants, as well as summary judgment for the Plaintiff on the counterclaims of the 

Defendants.  This motion is based on the pleadings and papers on file to date, the DVD lodged 

with the Court commensurately herewith, the attachments hereto including Plaintiff’s 

declaration, the accompanying Memorandum of Points and Authorities, and any oral argument 

the Court deems pertinent. 

 Counsel for Plaintiff, Robert A. Nersesian, also represents that he has consulted with 

opposing counsel pursuant to LCR 105(2)(c), relative to intentions as to filing summary 

judgment motions. While there were indications that other motions for summary judgment may 

be filed by them, opposing counsel for all currently pending Defendants indicated and consented  

/ / / 

/ / / 
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that the initial motion could appropriately be filed by the Plaintiff. 

DATED this 21st day of February, 2017. 

      Carpio Law Firm 

      /S/ Abraham Fernando Carpio_____ 

      Abraham Fernando Carpio 

      Prince George’s Professional Park 

      3311 ToledoTerrace, Suite B201 

      Hyattsville, MD 20782 

      (301) 559-8100 

      carpiolaw@gmail.com 

 

      Nersesian & Sankiewicz 

 

      /S/ Robert A. Nersesian_________  

Robert A. Nersesian 

      528 S. 8
th

 St. 

      Las Vegas, NV  89101 

      (702) 385-5454 

      vegaslegal@aol.com 

      Attorneys for Plaintiff 

  

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on February 21, 2017, I served a copy of the foregoing 

Lodging and Notice of Lodging through the CMECF system maintained by this court upon the 

following attorneys:  

Jay H. Creech, Senior Assistant County Attorney  Michelle J. Marzullo/Patricia H. Beal 

Anne Arundel County Office of Law   Marks, O’Neil, et al 

2660 Riva Road, 4
th

 Floor    600 Baltimore Ave, Ste. 305 

Annapolis, MD 21401      Towson, Maryland 21204 

 

       /S/ Robert A. Nersesian_________  

Robert A. Nersesian 

 

 

Case 1:15-cv-00495-RDB   Document 113   Filed 02/21/17   Page 2 of 2



1 

 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  

FOR THE DISTRICT OF MAYRLAND 

 

JUSTIN MILLS,   : 

     : 

 Plaintiff   : 

     :  CASE NO: 1:15:-cv-00495-RDB 

vs.      : 

     : 

ANNE ARUNDEL COUNTY : 

MARYLAND, et al   : 

 

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES IN SUPPORT OF  

PLAINTIFF’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS TO LIABILITY 

ON FALSE IMPRISONMENT, BATTERY, AND 42 U.S.C. 1983, AND  

DETERMINGING THAT THE DEFENDANTS HAVE NO CAUSE 

OF ACTION UNDER THEIR COUNTERCLAIMS 

 

I. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

 This motion is primarily based on DVD lodged with the court proximate to the filing of 

this motion (“lodged video”),1 together with the affidavit of Plaintiff, Justin Mills (“Plaintiff”) 

provided as exhibit (“ex.”) 1. Also extant, and authenticated in the Plaintiff’s declaration 

attached hereto (“Plaintiff’s Declaration”), ⁋⁋ 20-23, is a video/audio of some of the events at 

issue which is available to the Court and the public on the internet at 

<https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=LlMexfd2e8s&t> (viewed 2/9/17)(hereafter referred to as 

“public video/audio.”).  The full audio inclusive of the portion which Plaintiff overlayed to the 

lodged video at cam565 is also lodged with the court proximate to the filing of this motion, and 

includes two additional brief interchanges with Defendant Coulter and a security guard for 

Maryland Live!, which contents are not relevant to the current motion.   

                                                           
1 To view the files on the lodged video, double click on the pop-up menu the orb with the 
indication of “Media Player 2.” A media player will open with a list of files on the left menu of 
this application. To access the video, double click on the left menu for the camera (“cam”) to be 
viewed. References in the following to “cam” correspond to this menu. 
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As the Court reviews the facts in support of this motion, the lodged video as well as the 

public video/audio, are essentially, incontrovertible, and are even to be considered as established 

fact over conflicting averments. See People for the Ethical Treatment of Animals v. Bobby 

Berosini, Ltd., 111 Nev. 615, 621 (1995), In re Bailey, No. 2006-386, 2008 WL 2793848, at *2 

(Vt. Apr. 2008)(An authenticated video showing unambiguous events would constitute 

“conclusive direct evidence” of the events portrayed); Lee v. City of Norwalk, Ohio, No. 3:11 CV 

897, 2012 WL 3778975, at *2 (N.D. Ohio Aug. 30, 2012) aff'd, 529 F. App'x 778 (6th Cir. 2013) 

(authenticated video properly controls over conflicting statements in a summary judgment 

motion); Stevens v. Mkt. Basket Stores, Inc., 176 So. 3d 1065, 1070 (La. App. 2015); accord 

Scott v. Harris, 550 U.S. 372, 380 (2007); Griffin v. Hardrick, 604 F.3d 949, 955 (6th Cir. 2010); 

State v. Smith, No. 05-11-00742-CR, 2012 WL 1059703, at *4 (Tex. App. Mar. 30, 2012)(video 

evidence established the facts over contrary testimony); Hall v. State, 829 S.W.2d 407, 408 (Tex. 

App. 1992). The video and video/audio are authenticated in the Plaintiff’s Declaration, ⁋ 20-23.  

II. CONCISE STATEMENT OF FACTS IN SUPPORT OF  
SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

1. Defendant, PPE Casino Resorts Maryland LLC (“Maryland Live!”) is a licensed casino 

operating in Maryland. ECF 9, ⁋ 5. 

2. Plaintiff historically played casino games at Maryland Live! Plaintiff’s Declaration, ⁋ 4. 

3. Plaintiff is, and is known as, an advantage gambler.2 Plaintiff’s Declaration, ⁋ 7, accord 

public video/audio at 2:15:00-2:15:10.3 

                                                           
2 An advantage gambler is “a professional gambler who uses legal techniques, such as card 

counting, to win at casino table games, especially blackjack.” Tsao v. Desert Palace, Inc., 698 

F.3d 1128, 1131 (9th Cir. 2012)(emphasis added); Pistor v. Garcia, No. CV-12-0786-PHX-FJM, 

2014 WL 116391, at *1, n.1 (D. Ariz. Jan. 13, 2014) 
3 The times referenced on the public video/audio reference the casino’s running clock in the 
upper right on the video, not the running time of the YouTube video. 
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4. Plaintiff was approached by Maryland Live! personnel while on the casino floor. 

Plaintiff’s Declaration, ⁋ 8, accord lodged video, first “cam300” and second” cam 300. 

(First cam300 at 2:04:53:04 Plaintiff enters restroom) and subsequent cam300 at 

beginning where Plaintiff is being surrounded by Maryland Live! security and walking 

with them commencing outside the restroom). 

5. When he was approached by Maryland Live! personnel, Plaintiff was told that he must 

accompany Maryland Live! personnel. Plaintiff’s Declaration, ⁋ 9. 

6. Notwithstanding this directive by Maryland Live! personnel, Plaintiff still attempted to 

leave, but his locomotion was blocked by Maryland Live! personnel. Plaintiff’s 

Declaration, ⁋ 10, and see lodged video, cam1142 at 7:51:03. 

7. Plaintiff began to walk with Maryland Live! personnel, then paused indicating that he did 

not desire to accompany Maryland Live! security personnel. Plaintiff’s Declaration, ⁋ 11. 

8. Plaintiff continued to walk with Maryland Live! personnel, Plaintiff again paused 

indicating that he had no desire to accompany the Maryland Live! security personnel. 

Plaintiff’s Declaration, ⁋ 12. 

9. Maryland Live! personnel, including Defendant, Coulter,4 then went hands-on with the 

Plaintiff, placed Plaintiff in a forced compliance hold against his will, and commenced 

moving Plaintiff to some other place (a secure area away from the casino floor.) 

Plaintiff’s Declaration, ⁋⁋ 13, 14, and see lodged video, cam425 at 2:08:49-2:08:57. 

10. Once in the secure area (noted “hallway” in the upper left commencing at 2:09:56), 

Maryland Live! personnel demanded that Plaintiff produce identification, which request 

Plaintiff refused. Plaintiff’s Declaration, ⁋ 14, and accord Video at cam565. 

                                                           
4 Later in the video, Coulter identifies himself to the Plaintiff, which identification established 
Mr. Coulter as the “security manager,” and the person who placed Plaintiff in a hammer-lock.  
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11. Either at the request of Maryland Live!, or in concert with personnel of Maryland Live!, 

Bilter and Shapelow arrived and confronted the Plaintiff. Lodged video, cam565 at 

2:14:33. 

12. Bilter and Shapelow are police officers in the employ of Anne Arundel County. Party 

admission contained in Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Dismiss Counterclaim, ECF 

65, p. 2, Party admission, Counterclaim, ECF 41-1, p. 1, ⁋ 1.  

13. The officers informed Plaintiff, “You can’t leave here unless we I.D. who you are. So, 

either you can give’em your I.D., or you can go with us and we can fingerprint you, find 

out who you are, and then we’ll release you.” Public video/audio, at 2:15:29-2:15:40 

14.  Plaintiff was informed by the police defendants, while he was being held, that they were 

not accusing Plaintiff of doing anything wrong. Public video/audio at 2:16:19-2:16:22. 

15.  Plaintiff was not being detained for the purposes of a citizen’s arrest. Public video/audio. 

16.  Operations Manager Isella, acting within the course and scope of his employment with 

Maryland Live!, informed the Plaintiff that his detention was premised on Plaintiff being 

an advantage gambler. Public video/audio at 2:20:18-2:20:21; 

17.  From the time that Coulter went hands-on with a forced escort hold until plaintiff 

departed property, Plaintiff was held against his will for just shy of twenty minutes, and 

had he not provided his identification and succumbed to the extortionate and extra-legal 

demands of the police, Plaintiff would have, apparently, been held for hours. Accord 

Public video/audio at 2:15:35-2:15:46. 

18. Plaintiff recorded the audio of events as of police officers speaking at him before no less 

that six other people who were not police officers. See lodged video, cam565 at 2:14:42. 

III. ANALYSIS 
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A. THE SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD 

When there is no genuine issue as to any material fact, and those material facts establish 

the all elements of a claim, a claimant is entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law.  Fed. 

R. Civ. P. 56.  The United States Supreme Court has explained: 

In our view, the plain language of Rule 56(c) mandates the entry of 
summary judgment, after adequate time for discovery and upon 
motion, against a party who fails to make a showing sufficient to 
establish the existence of an element essential to that party’s case, 
and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial.  In 
such a situation, there can be ‘no genuine issue as to any material 
fact,’ since a complete failure of proof concerning an essential 
element of the nonmoving party’s case necessarily renders all other 
facts immaterial. 

 

Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322-23 (1986).  Further, the Supreme Court explained 

the judge’s role in evaluating the evidence to determine whether there is a failure of proof: 

[A]t the summary judgment stage the judge’s function is not himself 
to weigh the evidence and determine the truth of the matter but to 
determine whether there is a genuine issue for trial. . . .  [T]here is no 
issue for trial unless there is sufficient evidence favoring the 
nonmoving party for a jury to return a verdict for that party. . . .  If 
the evidence is merely colorable, . . .or is not significantly probative, 
. . .summary judgment may be granted. 
 

Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 249-250 (1986); Graham v. Geneva Enterprises, 

Inc., 55 F. App'x 135, 136 (4th Cir. 2003).  

 Here, established and uncontrovertable facts fulfill each element of the Plaintiff’s claims 

concerning false imprisonment, battery, and violation of 42 U.S.C. 1983. Summary judgment of 

liability as requested should enter. 

B. OVERARCHING CLEARLY ESTABLISHED LEGAL PRINCIPLES 

CONCERNING PLAINTIFF’S CLAIMS 

 

On the video of the incident, in the light most favorable to the defendants, it is clear that 

the reason for the detention of Plaintiff was to compel Plaintiff to provide identification. Per the 
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authenticated video and audio of the event, it might also be possible to extrapolate this reason to 

include a detention for card counting. Neither basis approaches illegal activity at any level, nor 

evinces even the hint of illegal activity. There can be no legal authority or legal basis existing 

under which the detention could be anything other than tortious.  

To detain a private citizen, another private citizen must, at an absolute minimum, suspect 

the private citizen of criminal activity. Indeed, the entire scope of legal authority for a casino to 

detain an individual in Maryland is as follows: 

1. A citizen’s arrest for a felony. This requires, “reasonable grounds exist to believe that a 

felony has been committed and that the person being apprehended has committed it.”  

 

2. A citizen’s arrest for a misdemeanor. This requires that an actual misdemeanor “is being 
committed in the presence or view of the arrester which amounts to a breach of the 
peace.”  

 
Stevenson v. State, 287 Md. 504, 516, 413 A.2d 1340, 1347 (1980); and In re Albert S., 106 Md. 

App. 376, 396, 664 A.2d 476, 486 (1995), respectively. That’s all of it. There is no other 

authority for a private individual or entity to detain another person in Maryland against their will. 

 For police officers, in order to detain a private individual, ordinarily a warrant is required. 

See U.S. Const. amd. IV. Nonetheless, certain circumscribed exceptions to this default position 

have been established by the federal courts, including 1) exigent circumstances; and 2) a Terry 

stop (Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968)).  The officers detaining an individual must have, at an 

absolute minimum, a reasonable suspicion based upon articulable facts that criminal activity is 

afoot. Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 21 (1968). This is also tempered and honed under the concept 

and policy that “[n]o right is held more sacred, or is more carefully guarded, by the common law, 

than the right of every individual to the possession and control of his own person, free from all 

restraint or interference of others, unless by clear and unquestionable authority of law."). Id at 9, 

Union Pac. R. Co. v. Botsford, 141 U.S. 250, 251 (1891); Park v. Shiflett, 250 F.3d 843, 850 (4th 
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Cir. 2001). In short, absent clear and unquestionable authority of law, a detention by police of an 

individual violates that person’s right to be free of unreasonable searches and seizures under U.S. 

Const., amd. IV.  

 Under Maryland law, obviously there can be no authority to violate a person’s 

constitutionally protected rights which could surpass the ability of the police to detain under the 

United States Constitution. In short, under Maryland law, if the police defendants violated 

Plaintiff’s clearly established constitutional rights in seizing the Plaintiff, they are liable for false 

imprisonment as well. 

1. It is Clearly Established that Card Counting is not a Crime 

 

Plaintiff was accused of being suspected of card counting. Card counting is not a crime. 

Although Maryland has not stated whether card counting is, or is not a crime, logic dictates that 

it is not. Card counting is a process whereby a player constructs his wagering strategy applying 

the variables offered by the progress of a game of blackjack through the available cards to be 

dealt. See “Professional Blackjack,” Stanford Wong (Pi Yee Press 1975, rev. 1994).  A deck 

heavy in aces and tens provides a savvy player an advantage in both an increased propensity for 

the dealer’s hand to be disqualified from consideration (through a ‘bust’), and an increased 

payoff to the player vis a vis  the patron through the higher likelihood of a ‘blackjack,’ which 

only pays the casino 1 to 1, but pays the player 3 to 2. Id. “Blackjack and the Law,” Rose & Loeb 

(RGE Press, 1998), “Beyond Counting,” James Grosjean (RGE Press 2000), “The Blackjack 

Zone,” Elliot Jacobson (Blue Point Books 2005), and “The Law for Gamblers” Robert A. 

Nersesian (Huntington Press, 2016), accord Ziglin v. Players MH, L.P., 36 S.W.3d 786, 788 

(Mo. Ct. App. 2001). In short, it is smart or skilled play at a game of mixed chance and skill, and 
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it would be logically inconsistent to criminalize an activity which rewards the diligent and 

punishes the dilatory.  

 This is regularly recognized as an unquestionably legal activity by all court’s addressing 

the issue. See Tsao v. Desert Palace, Inc., 698 F.3d 1128, 1131 (9th Cir. 2012); Carey v. Nev. 

Gaming Control Bd., 279 F.3d 873, 876 (9th Cir. 2002) (“legal strategy”); Grosch v. Tunica 

County, 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 4966, *2 (N.D. Miss. 2009); Donovan v. Grand Victoria Casino 

& Resort, L.P., 934 N.E.2d 1111, 1119 (Ind. 2010); Lyons v. State, 775 P.2d 219, 221 (Nev. 

1989); Uston v. Resorts International Hotel, Inc., 445 A.2d 370 (N.J. 1982); Hoagburg v. 

Harrah's Marina Hotel Casino, 585 F. Supp. 1167, 1170 (D.N.J. 1984)(“Card counting is not a 

crime.”); accord Ziglin v. Players MH, L.P., 36 S.W.3d 786, 788, n.1 (Mo. Ct. App. 2001). This 

is also true regarding writers on the subject. Blackjack and the Law, I. Nelson Rose. & Robert A. 

Loeb (RGE Press 1998); Gambling and the Law, I. Nelson Rose, Chap. 15 (Gambling Times, 

Inc. 1986)(assumption); Advantage Play and Commercial Casinos, Anthony Cabot and Robert 

Hannum, (Miss. Law. Journal, vol. 74, p. 376 (2005); The Law for Gamblers, Chap. 2, p. 17, 

Robert A. Nersesian (Huntington Press, 2016). Simply, there is no question, allusion, or 

indication under the law that card counting is anything other than a legal activity. 

 No law, statute or ordinance in Maryland  criminalizes card counting at any level. 

Maryland applies the common law. Williams v. State, 77 Md. App. 411, 413, 550 A.2d 722, 723 

(1988), aff'd, 316 Md. 677, 561 A.2d 216 (1989). Under the foregoing authorities, clearly the 

common law does not view card counting as an illegal, or even questionable activity. Maryland 

also has a propensity to accept and apply the great weight of authority on a legal subject. 

Jennings v. State, 8 Md. App. 321, 325, 259 A.2d 547, 550 (1969); In re: Smith, No. 266, 1964 

WL 125, at *1 (Md. Tax Sept. 15, 1964); Taylor v. State Roads Comm'n, 224 Md. 92, 95, 167 
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A.2d 127, 128 (1961). All indications to the police and Maryland Live! under the law were that 

the voiced activities of the Plaintiff were not criminal in any fashion. And to this, there is added 

the recognition of the police holding the Plaintiff that no crime was involved in the detention. 

Public video/audio at 2:16:19-2:16:21 (“We’re not accusing you of doing any wrongdoing . . ..”). 

 With respect to the legality of card counting being clearly established, in addressing an 

action by police where no on-point case within the jurisdiction, it is appropriate for the court to 

look to whether there is a consensus of authority on the issue. Wilson v. Layne, 526 U.S. 603, 

617 (1999); accord  Rogers v. Pendleton, 249 F.3d 279, 293 (4th Cir. 2001). There is a 

determinative, broad, and unanimous consensus of authority set forth from every jurisdiction 

addressing the subject, and by every commentator on the subject, clearly establishing the 

Plaintiff’s conduct was legal, or alternatively, not criminal. 

2. It is Clearly Established that Compelling Production of Identification is not Authorized 

Under the Law Except in Certain Circumstances Patently Absent Here 

 

Absent reasonable suspicion of criminal activity based on articulable facts, there is no 

legal authority to detain a person in order to secure identification. First, this would be an 

impossible standard as there is no requirement in America that a person even possess 

identification to provide. Com. v. Stahl, 4 Pa. D. & C.4th 321, 330 (Com. Pl. 1989)(“American 

citizens are not required to carry identification, unless they are engaged in a regulated activity 

such as operating a motor vehicle.”); Com. v. Goewey, 69 Mass. App. Ct. 429, 432, 868 N.E.2d 

651, 654 (2007)(dicta), aff'd, 452 Mass. 399, 894 N.E.2d 1128 (2008); Adams v. Metiva, 31 F.3d 

375, 383 (6th Cir. 1994); United States v. Mire, 851 F. Supp. 96, 105 (W.D.N.Y. 1994), rev'd on 

other grounds, 51 F.3d 349 (2d Cir. 1995)(“United States citizens are not required to carry 

identification.”); accord Spartacus Youth League v. Bd. of Trustees of Illinois Indus. Univ., 502 

F. Supp. 789, 805 (N.D. Ill. 1980); City of Anna v. Harlow, No. 05-97-01508-CV, 1998 WL 
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120216, at *2 (Tex. App. Mar. 19, 1998)(unpublished and non-precedential).5 It stands to reason 

that if, under the law, there is no requirement to carry identification, the failure to produce 

identification to a private individual (or even a police officer) cannot be a crime.6 And, as noted 

above, absent a crime being suspected, there can be no legal authority to detain, and a detention 

is false imprisonment. 

An individual also holds a right to anonymity, and absent authorization, there is no ability 

for a private entity or even the police, except in specific circumstances, to compel an individual 

to even identify themselves. Indeed, it is clearly established that identity need only be provided 

on demand when there are reasonable articulable facts giving rise to suspicion of criminal 

activity, and even then, the requirement is that the individual verbally identify themselves. See 

Hiibel v. Sixth Judicial Dist. Court of Nevada, Humboldt Cty., 542 U.S. 177, 187 (2004); Brown 

v. Texas, 443 U.S. 47 (1979); Grosch v. Tunica Cty., Miss., No. CIV A 2:06CV204-P-A, 2008 

WL 114773, at *4 (N.D. Miss. Jan. 8, 2008).  Under clearly established law, none of the 

Defendants had a basis to compel the production of identification by the Plaintiff.7 

                                                           
5 It is worthy to note that the police defendants were not merely asking the Plaintiff to identify 
himself, but rather, against further detention and handcuffing, requiring Plaintiff to produce 
physical identification. As stated in the video by Officer Shapelow 
<https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=LlMexfd2e8s&t=11s> (viewed 1/7/16) at , 2:15:34-
2:15:40,  “[E]ither you can give them your I.D., or you can go with us and we can fingerprint 
you, find out who you are, and then we’ll let you go.”  
6 This limitation was obliquely recognized in Hiibel v. Sixth Judicial Dist. Court of Nevada, 

Humboldt Cty., 542 U.S. 177, 187 (2004). In Hiibel, the court created a circumstance where an 

individual’s obligation to the police could reach an obligation to “disclose his name,” but the 

opinion fell short of requiring identification documents as the police were demanding in the 

present case. And as discussed below, even that justification did not exist in this case. 
7 And this anonymity is very valuable to the Plaintiff in light of his legal activities. In order to 
avoid being placed in a database or being found in a database used by casinos to prevent 
intelligent and savvy gamblers from frequenting their public establishments, advantage gamblers 
play under aliases or simply refuse to provide identification when it is not legally required.  See 

e.g. Tsao v. Desert Palace, Inc., 698 F.3d 1128, 1135 (9th Cir. 2012). In short, advantage 
gamblers go to great lengths to protect their anonymity and identity, as is their right. See “Legal 
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Grosch is particularly instructive on this point, and is essentially on point with the current 

matter. In Grosch, a casino detained the Plaintiff because he was suspected of being a card 

counter. They sought identification from the Plaintiff under the detention. The plaintiff refused to 

provide identification. The casino summoned the police. A police officer arrived and demanded 

identification from the plaintiff. When the plaintiff refused, the police officer arrested the 

plaintiff for disorderly conduct (later determined by a jury to be, essentially, a subterfuge), and 

secured plaintiff’s identification in a search incident to arrest. The officer then turned over the 

identification to the casino.  

On trial of the plaintiff’s claims, this was found to have established violation of 42 U.S.C. 

1983 with respect to all the parties including the police officer. On the motion challenging the 

verdict on these facts, the court found that the plaintiff in Grosch had a right to refuse to provide 

identification, not only to the casino, but to the police officer as well. Further, the court stated, 

“[T]he deputy did not have the legal right to give the plaintiff's ID to the casino.” Grosch v. 

Tunica Cty., Miss.,8 No. CIV A 2:06CV204-P-A, 2009 WL 161856, at *4 (N.D. Miss. Jan. 22, 

2009). The police officer’s liability was based on the application of the holdings by the Supreme 

Court in Terry, supra, and Brown, supra.  Grosch v. Tunica Cty., Miss., No. CIV A 2:06CV204-

P-A, 2008 WL 114773, at *4 (N.D. Miss. Jan. 8, 2008). Ultimately, the jury awarded the plaintiff 

$726,000.00.  Grosch v. Tunica Cty., Miss., No. CIV A 2:06CV204-P-A, 2009 WL 161856 

(N.D. Miss. Jan. 22, 2009). Clearly, the Defendants lacked the authority to compel Plaintiff to 

                                                                                                                                                                                           

Questions Raised by the Widespread Aggregation of Personal Data,” Adam Tanner, 49 New 
Eng. L. Rev. 601, 602 (New England School of Law, 2015)(“Patrons can gamble anonymously if 
they prefer, but most share personal information by signing up for loyalty cards.”) 
8 Lest the Court not be confused, the reasons the repeat citations to Grosch are required is due to 
the fact that there are two different opinions being addressed, to wit: 1) A denied 2008 decision 
on a motion for summary judgment by the defendants based on qualified immunity, and 2) A 
denied 2009 motion for new trial following the jury verdict. 
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produce identification or identify himself, and a detention of the Plaintiff for that reason lacked 

any legal authority. 

C. FALSE IMPRISONMENT LIABILITY 

 

The elements of tortious false imprisonment under Maryland law are: 
 
1) Deprivation of plaintiff’s liberty; 

2) Perpetrated by the defendant; 

3) Without legal justification and without consent of the plaintiff. 

Further, whether legal justification exists is to be judged by the principles applicable to the law 

of arrest.  Green v. Brooks, 125 Md. App. 349, 366–67, 725 A.2d 596, 605 (1999); and see, Scott 

v. Jenkins, 345 Md. 21, 29, 690 A.2d 1000 (1997); Ashton v. Brown, 339 Md. 70, 119, 660 A.2d 

447 (1995); Montgomery Ward v. Wilson, 339 Md. 701, 721, 664 A.2d 916 (1995); Fine v. 

Kolodny, 263 Md. 647, 651, 284 A.2d 409 (1971), cert. denied, 406 U.S. 928, 92 S.Ct. 1803, 32 

L.Ed.2d 129 (1972); Fleisher v. Ensminger, 140 Md. 604, 620, 118 A. 153 (1922); Lewin v. 

Uzuber, 65 Md. 341, 348–49, 4 A. 285 (1886); Mitchell v. Lemon, 34 Md. 176, 180 (1871). “The 

elements of false imprisonment are the same as the elements for false arrest.” Davis v. DiPino, 

121 Md.App. 28, 38, 708 A.2d 357, cert. granted, 350 Md. 488, 713 A.2d 980 (1998). Thus, the 

benchmark for the detention of the Plaintiff by the casino is whether they had any legal authority 

to arrest or seize Plaintiff at the time of the detention, and absent such legal authority, false 

imprisonment occurred. 

 The legal authority of the casino, a private entity whose employees are private 

individuals, to detain or arrest an individual is limited to instances where 1) A felony has in fact 

been committed; or 2) A breach of the peace amounting to a misdemeanor is undertaken by the 

arrestee in the presence of the defendant.  Great Atl. & Pac. Tea Co. v. Paul, 256 Md. 643, 655, 
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261 A.2d 731, 739 (1970).9 Thus, in the absence of one of these circumstances (actual felony, or 

breach of the peace coupled with a misdemeanor actually occurring), a detention constitutes a 

tortious false imprisonment. Clearly, under the facts, neither of these prerequisites existed. 

Plaintiff was detained by Maryland Live!. The detention was without legal justification, and 

Defendants, Maryland Live! and its employee, Coulter, are each liable to the Plaintiff for false 

imprisonment under Maryland law. 

 Concerning the police officers, Bilter and Shapelow, should likewise be held liable. Their 

actions were co-extensive with that of Coulter and Maryland Live!. It also appears that they 

acted with full knowledge of no crime occurring, and even stated as much. Regardless of 

whether Maryland law applies indiscriminately to police officers, or whether a police officer is 

entitled to qualified immunity for state torts under Maryland law, the facts here show that the tort 

occurred and no qualified immunity exists or could exist as the Defendants were violating clearly 

established law, while apprised of all relevant facts, when they were actively detaining the 

Plaintiff without legal authority and against his will. Summary judgment of liability for false 

imprisonment against all defendants should enter. 

C. BATTERY LIABILITY (NOMINATED ASSAULT IN THE SECOND 

AMENDED COMPLAINT)—MARYLAND LIVE! AND COULTER 

 

 Although Plaintiff’s third claim for relief is nominated “assault,” the allegations made 

directly state the elements of battery. In any event, the nomination of the torts is irrelevant 

because, under Maryland law, the distinction between assault and battery are blurred, and they 

                                                           
9 An additional limited authority, inapplicable here, is a common law right of a storekeeper to 
detain an individual for the purpose of preventing a theft or recouping property. And in the 
exercise of this limited authority, if there was no theft, even though probable cause might exist, 
the storekeeper remains liable for false imprisonment. Id.  
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are looked at as the same tort. See Saba v. Darling, 72 Md. App. 487, 491, 531 A.2d 696, 698 

(1987), aff'd, 320 Md. 45, 575 A.2d 1240 (1990).  

 Moreover, the factual allegations in a complaint are controlling of the claims made, not 

the titles placed on the claims. Blum v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 145 F.3d 1336 (9th Cir. 

1998); W. States Contracting v. Spilsbury, No. 2:10-CV-1141-TC, 2014 WL 4232675, at *5 (D. 

Utah Aug. 26, 2014); K.A. ex rel. Allebach v. Upper Perkiomen Sch. Dist., No. CIV.A. 11-2610, 

2012 WL 2362565, at *2 (E.D. Pa. Mar. 12, 2012), report and recommendation adopted, No. 

CIV.A. 11-2610, 2012 WL 2362568 (E.D. Pa. June 21, 2012); and see. Bell v. Weis, No. 14 C 

6627, 2015 WL 4972467, at *3 (N.D. Ill. Aug. 19, 2015); Alexander v. City & Cty. of Honolulu, 

545 F. Supp. 2d 1122, 1132 (D. Haw. 2008); Jackson v. N'Genuity Enterprises, Co, No. 09 CV 

6010, 2010 WL 4628668, at *2 (N.D. Ill. Nov. 8, 2010)(“While it is true that “Rule 9(b)'s 

heightened pleading standard turns not on the title of the claim but on the underlying facts 

alleged in the complaint . . . .”); Tavares v. Lawrence & Mem'l Hosp., No. 3:11-CV-770 CSH, 

2012 WL 4321961, at *1, n.1 (D. Conn. Sept. 20, 2012); Thompson v. Orange Lake Country 

Club, Inc., 224 F. Supp. 2d 1368, 1381 (M.D. Fla. 2002). In his Second Amended Complaint, ⁋ 

35, “Defendant Coulter intentionally and forcefully grabbed the Plaintiff’s arm, twisted it and 

placed the Plaintiff in an arm hold. At no time did the Plaintiff consent to this intentional, 

unlawful, and harmful touching.” Most importantly, the action charged appears in living color in 

Lodge Video, cam425, at 2:08:50-2:09:00 

 Tortious battery under Maryland law is defined as follows: 

A battery occurs when one intends a harmful or offensive contact with 
another without that person's consent. See restatement (Second) of Torts § 
13 & cmt. d (1965). “The act in question must be some positive or 
affirmative action on the part of the defendant.” Saba v. Darling, 320 Md. 
45, 49, 575 A.2d 1240, 1242 (1990). See also Prosser & Keeton, The Law 
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of Torts § 9, at 39 (5th ed.1984). A battery may occur through a 
defendant's direct or indirect contact with the plaintiff.  

Nelson v. Carroll, 355 Md. 593, 600, 735 A.2d 1096, 1099–100 (1999)(emphasis added).  Here 

offensive contact with the Plaintiff perpetrated by Coulter acting within the scope of his 

employment with Maryland Live! is beyond dispute. As the analysis in the preceding section 

amply shows, there existed no privilege for such contact by Coulter. Liability of Coulter and 

Maryland Live! for battery is established, and summary judgment should enter 

E. VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C. 1983 LIABILITY – ALL DEFENDANTS 

 Under U.S. Const. amd. IV, people are to be free of unreasonable searches and seizures.  

While the Constitution does not expressly provide for a cause of action for a breach of this 

mandate, Congress enacted 42 U.S.C. § 1983, which does provide for such a claim.   

 A seizure of the person occurs, “when the officer, by means of physical force or show of 

authority, has in some way restrained the liberty of a citizen . . ..” United States v. Stover, 808 

F.3d 991, 995 (4th Cir. 2015), cert. denied, 137 S. Ct. 241, 196 L. Ed. 2d 184 (2016). Here, it is 

indisputable that the plaintiff was seized by all the Defendants. The seizure by Coulter appears 

on the video at 2:08:52. The seizure by Bilter is evident on the public video/audio, at 2:15:29-

2:15:33, where, while armed, in uniform, and looming over Plaintiff, he states to Plaintiff, “You 

cannot leave here unless we I.D. who you are.” He then follows with a statement that the 

Plaintiff’s only choice is to surrender his I.D., or or be subjected to additional hours of seizure. 

See public video/audio at 2:16:45-2:16:55. Clearly, this was a show of authority informing 

Plaintiff that he was not free to leave. Then Shapelow follows with the further statement that 

Plaintiff is being held until he gives up his I.D., or the detention will be extended by Bilter and 

him. Further, throughout the events, Shapelow, Coulter, and Bilter continue to surround Plaintiff 

in a closed area with guarded doors and hold him over his protests. A seizure is indisputable. 
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The Supreme Court has identified three distinct types of police-citizen encounters, each 

requiring a different level of suspicion to be deemed reasonable under the Fourth Amendment: 

“(1) arrest, which must be supported by probable cause; (2) brief investigatory stops (Terry 

stops), which must be supported by reasonable articulable suspicion of criminal activity; and (3) 

consensual encounters between police and citizens, which require no objective justification.  

United States v. Richardson, 69 F.3d 549 (10th Cir. 1995); United States v. Cooper, 43 F.3d 140, 

145 (5th Cir. 1995); accord  King v. State, 193 Md. App. 582, 592, 998 A.2d 397, 403 (2010); 

United States v. Brown, 401 F.3d 588, 592 (4th Cir. 2005). This third type is, essentially, a 

conversation, and the Plaintiff must be free to walk away and free to refuse to answer questions; 

circumstances patently absent in this encounter between Plaintiff and Bilter and Shapelow. See 

United States v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544, 554 (1980). 

 The Defendants have, to date, stated their reasons for the detention of the Plaintiff. The 

police defendants detained the Plaintiff for the purpose of securing Plaintiff’s identification in 

order to provide it to Maryland Live!. The Maryland Live! Defendant’s seized Plaintiff for the 

purpose of gaining Plaintiff’s identification. The Maryland Live! Defendants enlisted the police 

Defendants in this endeavor, and the two obviously worked in concert through the continuing 

detention of the Plaintiff to accomplish this goal. Lodged video, cam565, and Public video/audio.  

For any of these persons to have constitutionally or legally detained the Plaintiff, the 

detention must be legally authorized. Moreover, if there is clearly established law foreclosing the 

detention, then the detention is in violation of 42 U.S.C. 1983, as an unconstitutional seizure. 

Clearly established law mandates that, at a minimum, any non-consensual detention under state 

action must be attendant to suspicion of criminal activity or probable cause, and neither existed 
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here. There was no legal authority to detain Plaintiff at any level, and Defendants are all liable 

for violation of 42 U.S.C. 1983 surrounding the detention of the Plaintiff. 

The same is true with respect to the seizure of the Plaintiff’s passport. Compelling that 

the Plaintiff provide this document, and then securing its contents is also a search without a 

warrant and without probable cause. Here, Bilter secured Plaintiff’s passport under direct threat 

of further detention. Public video/audio 2:17:38-2:17:41. Bilter hands the Plaintiff’s passport to 

Shapelow. Public video/audio at 2:17:46-2:18:07. Shapelow then, in an ultimate show of lack of 

respect for constitutional limits, promptly handed Plaintiff’s property to Isella, the casino’s 

employee, in order that he could, as a private person, invade Plaintiff’s privacy and secure 

Plaintiff’s private information. Public video/audio at 2:18:10-2:18:13. Then Coulter and Isella 

can be seen transcribing all the information off of the Plaintiff’s passport which the police gave 

to the casino. Public video/audio at 2:18:40-2:21:27.  

This was exactly an action of the officer found to violate that plaintiff’s rights in Grosch 

v. Tunica County, No. CIV A 2:06CV204-P-A, 2009 WL 161856, at *4 (N.D. Miss. Jan. 22, 

2009)(“[T]he deputy did not have the legal right to give the plaintiff's ID to the casino . . ..” For a 

second reason, Plaintiff’s constitutional right to be free of unreasonable search and seizure (his 

passport) is also shown, and liability under 42 U.S.C. 1983 is established on this basis as well. 

With no authority to detain, the only possible defense to the 42 U.S.C. 1983 claim would 

be qualified immunity. Qualified immunity cannot apply as a defense if the Plaintiff was entitled 

to be free of the seizure under clearly established law. The parameters of the constitutionally 

authorized seizure for the purpose of securing identification are clearly established at the highest 

level. A person can only be detained/seized if an officer holds reasonable suspicion based on 

articulable facts that criminal activity may be afoot. Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968). Absent 
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meeting this circumstance, he remains free to refuse to answer questions, and is not obligated to 

provide identification. Compare and accord Berkemer v. McCarty, 468 U.S. 420, 439, 104 S. Ct. 

3138, 3150, 82 L. Ed. 2d 317 (1984), Hiibel v. Sixth Judicial Dist. Court of Nevada, Humboldt 

Cty., 542 U.S. 177, 187 (2004); Brown v. Texas, 443 U.S. 47 (1979); and Grosch v. Tunica Cty., 

Miss., No. CIV A 2:06CV204-P-A, 2008 WL 114773, at *4 (N.D. Miss. Jan. 8, 2008). Suspicion 

of criminal activity was patently absent, and there is no possible claim of qualified immunity for 

these rogue officers. Indeed, it appears that they willfully, and not merely ignorantly, violated 

Plaintiff’s constitutional right to be free of unreasonable searches and seizures.  

F. THERE IS NO VIABLE CLAIM BY DEFENDANTS AGAINST PLAINTIFF  

ON THE COUNTERCLAIMS FOR WIRETAPPING VIOLATIONS 

 

1. There Were no “Private Communications” Under the Indisputable Facts, and Therefore, 

No Violation of any Statute in Plaintiff’s Recording of the Communications 

 

 Some issues here are currently before the Court with Plaintiff seeking dismissal of the 

counterclaims. This summary judgment motion raises a new direction on the counterclaims, and 

demonstrates that under the facts, even if the Defendants’ contentions are accepted, the 

communications at issue are not subject to any protection by Md. Code Ann., Cts. & Jud. Proc. § 

10-401 et seq. 

Pointedly, the prior motions were argued from the perspective of private versus public 

communications and the constitutionally protected right of the Plaintiff to undertake the audio 

recording. See Opposition to Motion to Dismiss, ECF 65.  From the express and unambiguous 

language of the statute, while it is certainly true that there would be no protection of a public 

communication, this is not the only or proper test, and the restriction is far narrower than non-

public. Rather, here, the dichotomy is clearly private versus non-private, and the communications 
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at issue were non-private. The standard, considering the recorded communications with Plaintiff, 

simply do not fall under any prohibitionary statute under the undisputed facts. 

 The communications at issue are the oral communications with the Plaintiff. See ECF 65 

and public video/audio. The statute prohibits anyone from intercepting or disclosing, “any . . . 

oral . . . communication.” Md. Code Ann., Cts. & Jud. Proc. § 10-402(a)(1) and (a)(2). And 

here’s the rub. “Oral communication” is expressly defined in the chapter as,  “‘Oral 

communication’ means any conversation or words spoken to or by any person in private 

conversation.” Md. Code Ann., Cts. & Jud. Proc. § 10-401(13(i)(emphasis added). Statements 

made in the presence of others are not private and are not confidential communications.10 See 

People v. Osorio, 549 N.E.2d 1183, 1186 (N.Y. 1989); Holland v. Prot. One Alarm Monitoring, 

Inc., No. C15-259 RSM, 2016 WL 1449204, at *9 (W.D. Wash. Apr. 13, 2016); Hernandez v. 

State, 180 So. 3d 978, 998 (Fla. 2015), reh'g denied (Dec. 18, 2015), cert. denied, 136 S. Ct. 

2487, 195 L. Ed. 2d 826 (2016); State v. Narcisse, 426 So. 2d 118, 123 (La. 1983) 

(communications made in the presence of third persons are not private communications); accord 

United States v. Gann, 732 F.2d 714, 723 (9th Cir. 1984) (attorney/client privilege destroyed by 

presence of a third party showing that such presence destroys the privacy of the communication 

required for the privilege to apply). Md. Code Ann., Cts. & Jud. Proc. § 10-401(13)(i). With up 

to eight or more people present, and these persons being of, at least, three different classes 

(police, casino personnel, and plaintiff), the communications by Bilter and Shapelow at issue 

were not “private conversations,” and Plaintiff’s taping of the communications did not violate 

Md. Code Ann., Cts. & Jud. Proc. § 10-401 et seq. 

                                                           
10 As an aside, there was, actually, no conversation. Plaintiff attempted to have a conversation, 
but reference to the communications show that little more than Plaintiff being dictated to while 
held against his will occurred.  
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 Equally determinative, the communications were, in fact, recorded by Maryland Live! 

While the recording in the lodged video does not contain an audio component, audio 

communications, with some of their content, are evident on the lodged video. For example, at 

cam565 at 2:10:34-2:10:47, a viewer can discern that Coulter verbalized to the Plaintiff that he 

was to sit on the bench where Plaintiff takes a seat. Comparison of lodged video, cam565 at 

2:14:37-2:17:36 with lodged video, cam565 at 2:17:38-41. Also the lodged video indicates to 

anyone viewing it that Bilter and Shapelow were verbally demanding identification from the 

Plaintiff. A viewer could only conclude that Coulter had verbally requested Plaintiff’s 

identification from Bilter and Shapelow from the events (giving the passport to Coulter) depicted 

in the lodged video at cam565 at 2:18:10-2:18:13. The length of the interaction in the lodged 

video, cam565 at 2:14:37-2:17:36, also discloses that the Plaintiff was verbalizing a resistance to 

providing his identification. Considering the foregoing demands and resistance, in the lodged 

video, cam565 at 2:22:55-2:23:57, it is apparent that Coulter is verbalizing demands upon the 

Plaintiff that the Plaintiff must sign a document at Coulter’s demand (and presumably, failing to 

do so, would not be released). Plaintiff’s verbal resistance to this demand is also seen. 

Obviously, in the lodged video, cam565 at 2:27:00-2:27:11, Plaintiff is necessarily given verbal 

directions as to where to proceed to exit, thereby disclosing oral communications on the 

recording by defendants. Clearly, the video recording by Maryland Live! destroyed any privacy 

claim to the communications, large swaths of information from the verbal communications were 

evident from the recording found in Maryland Live!’s video recording of the events, and if 

anyone is guilty of violating Maryland’s wiretap statutes, it is Maryland Live. 

2. Plaintiff’s Recording was Fully Privileged Notwithstanding the Wiretapping  

Statutes, and Therefore, Defendants’ Have No Claim 

 

a. Self Defense 
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When the recording of the Defendants occurred, Plaintiff was already a victim of 

numerous torts, and even felonies. In fact, it is inescapable that the forceful seizure by Coulter 

described above and evident at lodged video, constitutes felonious kidnapping. See lodged video, 

Cam425 at 2:08:49-2:08:57. Simply, “[t]he elements of kidnapping are (1) a restraint of the 

victim's freedom (2) against his will (3) aggravated by carrying the victim to some other place. 

Kearney v. State, 586 A.2d 746, 751 (Md. App. 1991); and see Md. Code Ann., Crim. Law § 3-

502, and Coulter’s actions against Plaintiff fulfill each element. 

As shown above, before the Court is an illegal warrantless arrest made by a casino and its 

personnel, then co-opted by police authorities aiding, abetting and actively participating in that 

illegal arrest. Further, as defined in Maryland, “an arrest is the taking, seizing or detaining of the 

person of another, inter alia, by any act that indicates an intention to take him into custody and 

that subjects him to the actual control and will of the person making the arrest.” Morton v. State, 

284 Md. 526, 530, 397 A.2d 1385, 1388 (1979).  

Per Maryland law, a person seized illegally holds a very broad right of self-defense and 

when arrested illegally “may use any reasonable means to effect his [or her] escape, even to the 

extent of using such force as is reasonably necessary.” Rodgers v. State, 280 Md. 406, 410, 373 

A.2d 944 (1977), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 928, 98 S.Ct. 412, 54 L.Ed.2d 287 (1978) (quoting 

Sugarman v. State, 173 Md. 52, 195 A. 324 (1937)); State v. Blackman, 94 Md.App. 284, 306–

08, 617 A.2d 619 (1992); Barnhard v. State, 86 Md.App. 518, 527, 587 A.2d 561 (1991), aff'd, 

325 Md. 602, 602 A.2d 701 (1992). While not verbalized, clearly the right is not limited to 

escape, but extends to a privilege to take actions in defense to the illegal detention.11 While there 

                                                           

11
 Admittedly, among other jurisdictions, the modern trend has been to abandon the broad scope 

of the rule, and it has been questioned whether the original rationale for the right to resist 
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have been some inroads against such a broad right in Maryland, they are limited to situations 

where the arresting person acts under a warrant, valid or not. Citations above and n. 11. Simply, 

persons acting in legitimate self-defense in opposition to an illegal arrest retain broad rights to 

resist the arrest or protect themselves from the perpetrator’s criminal activities, inclusive of the 

commission of otherwise illegal acts.12 That is, the right to resist an unlawful, warrantless arrest 

remains the law of Maryland until the legislature or the Court of Appeals states otherwise, and 

regardless, the full panoply of resistence and self-defense/protection, indisputably remains for all 

circumstances short of violent resistance. Plaintiff’s recording falls within this area, was thusly 

privileged, and the fact that the evidence so firmly establishes the violation of his rights further 

demonstrates the privilege to undertake the recording at issue. 

The self-defense privilege allows the person attacked to avoid the responsibility 

ordinarily attendant to the actions undertaken. For examples, under the court’s determination of 

self-defense, it is not assault to punch someone punching or imprisoning the victim, but rather, 

the use of allowable self-defense. Imagine a rape victim having to answer for disturbing the 

peace and quiet of a park as she screams for help from the bushes where she is assaulted.  

Simply, patent self-defense can never give rise to disturbing the peace, a battery in opposition to 

an attack is not a crime, speeding away from an armed attacker would be excused regardless of 

                                                                                                                                                                                           

concerning police is still viable. See Monk, 94 Md.App. at 742–45, 619 A.2d 166; Blackman, 94 
Md.App. at 306–08, 617 A.2d 619; Barnhard, 86 Md.App. at 527, 587 A.2d 561. Nonetheless, 
there is no dispute anywhere that contests the unfettered non-violent right of a person to defend 
themselves against a false imprisonment. 
12 Imagine a rape victim having to answer for disturbing the peace and quiet of a park as she 
screams for help from the bushes where she is assaulted.  Simply, patent self-defense can never 
give rise to disturbing the peace, and in the case of a total illegal conversion of liberty such as 
that suffered by the defendant, provided the imprisonment is tortious and wrongful, mere words 
and resistance cannot give rise to any criminal activity by definition. 
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the speed limit, and self-defense grants an ability and privilege to violate incidental proscriptions 

under the law to protect oneself from crimes being committed against them. 

Here, once Plaintiff has already been the victim of a felonious crime against him, it 

cannot be said to be violating a wiretapping ordinance through recording the illegal activities of 

his attackers constitutes a tort. In fact, had this not been recorded, is it even unlikely that the 

police defendants would have admitted that they acknowledged that the innocent Plaintiff had 

not committed any crime, but rather, stories and justifications centered on suspected cheating by 

the Plaintiff would have been fabricated and forwarded after the incident. While a bit novel, 

Plaintiff’s activities in recording the Defendants are exactly why he may escape false charges, 

why he can proceed with his rights, and how he protected himself from this egregious and 

criminal attacks by the Defendants. While in the midst of being victimized by the criminal 

activities of others, there simply cannot be any illegal or tortious wiretapping of the perpetrators 

committing the crimes against him. There is no prohibition on Plaintiff’s activities here, and no 

viable counterclaim. 

Also, in this respect, considering existing law, the Plaintiff could only assume that his 

activities were privileged. Plaintiff believed the events were being recorded, and they were, in 

fact, being video recorded, and undertook his recording in order to assure that the casino’s 

recording would not be doctored or destroyed. Plaintiff’s Declaration, ⁋⁋ 25-26. Indeed, it 

appeared, at the time, that such a recording in similar circumstances was common with casinos. 

See e.g. Oh. Adm. Cd. 3772-19-07(P)(“When a person is detained by casino security personnel 

in the casino security office, the detention and any questioning must be recorded.”); Nev. 

Gaming Comm. Reg. 5, Standard 8 (same). Plaintiff had no possible way of knowing that anyone 

would assert that the persons browbeating him, either police or casino security, could or would 

Case 1:15-cv-00495-RDB   Document 113-1   Filed 02/21/17   Page 23 of 25



24 

 

believe that their actions were private, and every expectation that they were not and were being 

otherwise recorded to a media outside his access. There could be no willful violation of any 

wiretapping law under these circumstances. 

b. Constitutional Privilege and Consent 

There exists an absolute constitutional privilege to record the actions of police officers 

undertaking their duties referenced in the motions to dismiss the counterclaims continues to 

appertain to these facts. See e.g. Smith v. City of Cumming, 212 F.3d 1332, 1333 (11th Cir. 

2000)(Noting a “right to video tape police activities.”); Garcia v. Montgomery Cty., Maryland, 

145 F. Supp. 3d 492, 507 (D. Md. 2015), and analysis in the motions to dismiss and replies.13 See 

analysis, ECF 57-1 and ECF 66-1. Summary judgment on the counterclaims is also warranted 

under this rationale. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

 For the reasons set forth above, Plaintiff requests that summary judgment of liability for 

false imprisonment, and under 42 U.S.C. 1983 enter for the Plaintiff against all Defendants. It is 

further requested that summary judgment enter for Plaintiff and against Defendants finding no  

 

 

 

                                                           
13 Note that the addition of the word “public” to the holdings is surplussage with the court, 
correctly, only deciding the case before them. Here the police appear to be acting as officers of 
the state, and are performing an evident public, albeit illegal, function. All of the policy 
considerations in the authorities cited in Garcia apply to actions by the police in their capacity of 
agents of the State, and the right to record should remain unaffected in official conduct of the 
police conducted in private, but only private because the police, or their privies, have removed 
the circumstance from public view. Indeed, in such a circumstance, the ability to protect against 
public corruption or abuse is heightened, and in such a case, recording should be given especial 
first amendment protection. 
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cause for action on Defendants’ counterclaims. 

 Dated this 21st day of February, 2017 

       Respectfully submitted: 

      

       /S/ Abraham F. Carpio__________ 

       Abraham F. Carpio, 25443 

       Carpio Law Firm, LLC 

       Prince George’s Professional Park 

       3311 Toledo Terrace, Sute B 201 

       Hyattsville, MD  20728 

       (301) 559-8100 

       carpiolaw@gmail.com 

       Counsel for Plaintiff 

 

       Nersesian & Sankiewicz 

 

       /S/ Robert A. Nersesian__________ 

       Robert A. Nersesian    

       528 S. 8th 

       Las Vegas, NV  89101 

       (702) 385-5454 

       vegaslegal@aol.com 

       Pro hac vice counsel for Plaintiff 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on February 21, 2017, I served a copy of the foregoing 

Memorandum of Points and Authorities through the CMECF system maintained by this court  

upon the following attorneys:  

Jay H. Creech, Senior Assistant County Attorney  Michelle J. Marzullo/Patricia H. Beal 

Anne Arundel County Office of Law   Marks, O’Neil, et al 

2660 Riva Road, 4th Floor    600 Baltimore Ave, Ste. 305 

Annapolis, MD 21401      Towson, Maryland 21204  

             

       /S/ Robert A. Nersesian____________  

Robert A. Nersesian 
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